1956

P. S. Guss dba Photo Sound Products  
Manufacturing Company v. Utah Labor Relations  
Board and United Steelworkers of America, CIO :  
Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This matter comes before the court on a Writ of Review to review an order of the Utah Labor Relations Board directed against Philip S. Guss doing business as Photo Sound Products Manufacturing Company, a sole proprietorship, requiring him to reinstate certain ex-employees and to bargain collectively with United Steelworkers of America, CIO. The Petition for Writ of Review questions the jurisdiction of the Utah Labor Relations Board under the circumstances of this case to issue such an order.

P. S. Guss is a Utah resident engaged in business in Salt Lake City under the trade name of Photo Sound

Products Manufacturing Company, hereinafter referred to as Photo Sound. Photo Sound was set up by Mr. Guss to perform contracts for the United States Air Force for the design and manufacture of specialized photographic equipment. That is and was its only function. (R. 121) The business during the period in question involved three Air Force contracts; one for chemical mixers in the amount of \$84,896.73, one for printers in the amount of \$37,222.42, and one for print straighteners in the amount of \$29,906.35. (R. 125) To perform these contracts for the Air Force, Photo Sound purchased from sources outside the state, stainless steel in an amount "a little less than \$50,000" (R.133). The finished products were shipped to the Air Force at Wright-Patterson Field, Dayton, Ohio and other Air Force bases, including Hill Field, Utah, and other bases outside the state. (R. 124)

Shortly after the company started operating the United Steelworkers of America, CIO, in December of 1953, filed with the National Labor Relations Board, a petition for certification under the National Labor Relations Act of that union as the bargaining representatives for all of the employees of the company, except clerical and supervisory employees, as defined in the National Labor Relations Act, as amended. (R. 230) At the time for hearing on the petition on January 19, 1954 (R. 176) the company and the union entered into an agreement for a consent election to be conducted by the National Labor Relations Board. (R. 233) Among other things, this agreement recited that the employer,

Photo Sound, was “engaged in commerce within the meaning of Section 3(6)(7) of the National Labor Relation Act.” (R. 233, par. 8)

The election was conducted by the National Board on April 26, 1954 and was won by the union, 15 to 11. (R. 233) Under date of May 4, 1954, the United Steelworkers of America, CIO, were duly certified by the National Labor Relations Board pursuant to section 9(a) of the National Labor Relations Act. (R.234)

Although no request to bargain was made by the union until May 6, 1954 (R. 236) (and although it had won the election), on May 14, 1954, the union filed a charge against Photo Sound with the National Labor Relations Board (R. 290) under sections 8(a) (1), (3) and (5) of the National Labor Relations Act, as amended, alleging that the company had been guilty of unfair labor practices, including interference with the election, discriminatory discharges and refusal to bargain. Also during this period, the union published in the May, 1954 issue of the Utah CIO News (R. 291) a scurrilous attack upon Philip S. Guss and Photo Sound. Because of this hostile attitude of the union, Guss concluded that counsel should be present at all collective bargaining negotiations. Such was the case in the negotiations which proceeded between the union and the company between June 1, 1954 and the end of July of that year.

During this same period, the National Labor Relations Board was investigating the charges filed with it by the union. In July, 1954, the National Labor Relations Board issued new “yardsticks” which it indicated it

would apply to determine whether it would, in a particular case, exercise the exclusive jurisdiction granted it by Congress. (NLRB Release No. R-445, July 1, 1954, and No. R-449, July 15, 1954). Applying this new yardstick, the National Board under date of July 21, 1954, declined to consider the matter of the charges filed by the United Steelworkers of America, CIO, against Photo Sound, stating:

“Further proceedings are not warranted, inasmuch as the operations of the company involved are predominately local in character and it does not appear that it would effectuate the policy of the Act to exercise jurisdiction. I am therefore, refusing to issue complaint in this matter.” (R. 235)

The union, in this notice, was advised that it had the right to a review of this action taken by the National Board in declining to exercise its jurisdiction, but no appeal was taken by the union. (R. 18)

On July 29, 1954, the union filed substantially the same charge with the State Board (R. 1) that it had previously filed with the National Board. No complaint was issued by the State Board until January 14, 1955 and notice of hearing thereon issued the same date. This was the first notice either Photo Sound or its counsel had that the union had filed charges with the State Board.

At the hearing on the charges before the State Board on February 7, 1955, the company presented its contention that the matter was not within the jurisdiction of the Utah Board (R. 17) and objected to the introduc-

tion of all evidence and other proceedings on the same grounds (R 2.0). At the close of the union's case, the company renewed its motion to dismiss on the ground that the proceedings were not within the jurisdiction of the State Board, but were within the exclusive jurisdiction of the National Labor Relations Board (R. 133).

The hearing examiner ruled that the business of Photo Sound affected intrastate as well as interstate commerce (R. 317), and concluded therefrom that the State Board had jurisdiction. The Utah State Labor Relations Board affirmed the ruling of the hearing examiner (R. 329) and issued an order directing Photo Sound to cease and desist from refusing to bargain collectively with the CIO and directing it to take certain affirmative action with respect to certain of its ex-employees designated in the order. This Writ of Review was obtained to question the jurisdiction of the Utah Labor Relations Board to issue such an order.

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

### POINT ONE

THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD HAS EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF THE LABOR RELATIONS OF PHOTO SOUND PRODUCTS MANUFACTURING COMPANY.

### POINT TWO

ACTION OF THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD IN DECLINING TO EXERCISE ITS JURISDICTION DOES NOT CONVEY JURISDICTION TO THE UTAH BOARD.

A. The National Labor Relations Board has not ceded jurisdiction.

B. The refusal of the National Labor Relations Board to exercise its jurisdiction, does not create jurisdiction in the State Board.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT ONE

THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD HAS EXCLUSIVE JURISDICTION OF THE LABOR RELATIONS OF PHOTO SOUND PRODUCTS MANUFACTURING COMPANY.

The judicial plowing of the field of federal-state relationship in the administration of labor relations since the enactment of the Wagner Labor Relations Act in 1935<sup>1</sup> and its amendment in 1947<sup>2</sup> makes it clear that the National Labor Relations Board has jurisdiction in this matter and that such jurisdiction of the National Board is exclusive, Congress having preempted the field, except for certain particular instances specifically spelled out in the Act.

Since early in NLRA history the Supreme Court has held that Congress intended to exercise the full scope of its authority under the Commerce clause in the labor relations field. In *NLRB v. Fainblatt*, 306 US 1 (1939) the Supreme Court held the power of Congress to regulate interstate commerce is plenary and extends to all such commerce, be it great or small and that;

“The Act, on its face, thus evidences the intention of Congress to exercise whatever power is constitutionally given it \* \* \* we can perceive no basis for inferring any intention of Congress to make the operation of the Act depend upon any particular volume of commerce affected \* \* \*”

---

<sup>1</sup> 29 USC § 151-166, 49 Stat. 457.

<sup>2</sup> Labor Management Relations Act of 1947, 61 Stat. 136.

The trial examiner of the Utah Labor Relations Board, without referring to the approximately \$50,000.00 worth of purchases in interstate commerce of Photo Sound found:

“It must be conceded that the Respondent is manufacturing products almost all of which are shipped outside the State of Utah. It is also true that a large amount of the dollars expended in performing these contracts are spent for labor and the purchase of materials on a local level. It is thus apparent, that intrastate commerce as well as interstate commerce is affected by this dispute.” (R. 317)

Since the Board found that interstate commerce as well as intrastate is affected by the dispute between Photo Sound and the CIO, it is clear that the labor relations of Photo Sound Products Manufacturing Company, and particularly charges of discrimination and refusal to bargain, matters expressly dealt with by Section 8(a) (1), (3) and (5) of the National Act, are within the National Board's exclusive jurisdiction. *Santa Cruz Packing Co. vs. NLRB*, 303 US 453, (1938). Other cases holding on facts similar to those established with respect to Photo Sound, that the National Labor Relations Board has jurisdiction and has exercised such jurisdiction, might be cited *ad infinitum*, but as the principle is so clear, this brief will not be unduly lengthened by such enumeration. In almost every case affecting interstate commerce, both intrastate commerce and local labor are involved, but unless the doctrine of *de minimis* be “maximized” to an extent far beyond that recognized by

the courts, the National Board's jurisdiction attaches, and that jurisdiction is exclusive. *Bethlehem Steel Company vs. New York State Labor Relations Board*, 330 US 767 (1946), *LaCrosse Telephone Company vs. Wisconsin Employment Relations Board*, 336 US 18 (1948) and *Plakinton Packing Company vs. Wisconsin Employment Relations Board*, 338 US 953 (1950).

In the *Bethlehem Steel* case, the issue of the federal-state relationship was first adjudicated by the Supreme Court. The issue there was whether the New York Board could certify a formen's union in an industry subject to the National Labor Relations Act where the National Board had refused to certify such union as a matter of Board policy. The Supreme Court held that certification of such union by the State Board was invalid as in conflict with the National Act and the Commerce Clause of the Constitution. In so holding the Supreme Court stated:

“Comparison of the state and federal statutes, will show that both governments have laid hold of the same relation for regulation, and it involves the same employers and the same employees. Each is delegated through administrative authority, a wide discretion in applying this plan of regulation to specific cases, and they are governed by somewhat different standards. Thus, if both laws are upheld, two administrative bodies are asserting a discretionary control over the same subject matter, conducting hearings, supervising elections, and determining the appropriate unit for bargaining in the same plant. \* \* \* We therefore conclude, that it is beyond the power

of New York to apply its policies to these Appellants, as attempted herein.”

In *LaCrosse Telephone Co. vs. Wisconsin Board*, supra, the Supreme Court of Wisconsin had held that the Wisconsin Board could exercise its jurisdiction to determine and certify appropriate bargaining units until the National Board undertook to act. The Supreme Court of the United States rejected this view on the authority of the *Bethlehem Steel* case.

The *Plankinton Packing Co.* case was one involving unfair labor practices, rather than certification of appropriate bargaining units. The Supreme Court of the United States, in a per curiam decision, citing the *Bethlehem Steel* and *LaCrosse Telephone Company* case, held the Wisconsin Board to be without jurisdiction in such a matter.

In *Garner vs. Teamsters Union*, 346 US 485, (1953) the Supreme Court applied the same principle to state courts as it had to state boards in the *Bethlehem Steel* and *LaCrosse Telephone* cases, and held that the Pennsylvania court had no jurisdiction to enjoin picketing practices which were in violation of both state and federal law. The Supreme Court said:

“Congress did not merely lay down a substantive rule of law to be enforced by any tribunal competent to apply law generally to the parties. It went on to provide primary interpretation and application of its rules to a specific and specially constituted tribunal and prescribed a particular procedure for investigation, complaint, notice and hearing thereon, including judicial relief, pending

a final administrative order. Congress evidently considered that centralized administration of specially designated procedures was necessary to obtain uniform application of its substantive rules and to avoid these diversities and conflicts likely to result from a variety of local procedures and attitudes toward local controversies. \* \* \*

A multiplicity of tribunals and a diversity of procedure are quite as apt to produce incompatible or conflicting adjudication, as are different rules of substantive law. *The same reasoning that prohibit Federal Courts from intervening in such cases, except by way of review, or by application of the Federal Board, precludes state courts from doing so. [citing cases] And the reasons for excluding state administrative bodies from assuming control of matters expressly placed within the confines of the Federal Board, also exclude state courts from like action.*” (emphasis supplied.)

The rule established by the Supreme Court of the United States has been aptly summarized by the Pennsylvania Supreme Court in *Pittsburg Railways vs. Division 85, Amalgamated Association of Street Railway Employees of America*, 357 Pa. 379, 54 At. 2d 891, 174 ALR 1045:

“The clear implication of the decision of the Supreme Court of the United States in *Bethlehem Steel vs. New York State Labor Relations Board*, 330 US 767, is that wherever the employer-employee relationship is one over which Congress has power of regulation and with regard to which Congress has acted, state power is suspended and cannot constitutionally be exercised. \* \* \* The criterion to determine the validity of the exercise of state power is not whether the agency admini-

stering federal law has acted upon the relationship in a given case; rather it is whether Congress has asserted its power to regulate that relationship.”

The question of the exclusive jurisdiction of the National Board, being so clearly established by the Supreme Court of the United States, which has the final word on this question, the only issue remaining in the case at bar concerning the invalidity of the Utah Board’s order in this matter, is whether in any way the action of the National Board in declining to exercise its jurisdiction to consider the unfair labor practice charge conveys any jurisdiction to the Utah State Board. It is the position of Photo Sound that it does not.

## POINT TWO

**ACTION OF THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD IN DECLINING TO EXERCISE ITS JURISDICTION DOES NOT CONVEY JURISDICTION TO THE UTAH BOARD.**

**A. The National Labor Relations Board has not ceded jurisdiction.**

Section 10 (a) of the National Labor Relations Act as amended in 1947 provides:

“The Board is empowered, as hereinafter provided, to prevent any person from engaging in any unfair labor practice affecting commerce. This power shall not be affected by any other means of adjustment or prevention that has been or may be established by agreement, law, or otherwise; Provided, That the Board is empowered by agreement with any agency of any State or Territory to cede to such agency jurisdiction over any cases in any industry (other than mining, manu-

facturing, communications, and transportation except where predominantly local in character) even though such cases may involve labor disputes affecting commerce, unless the provision of the State or Territorial statute applicable to the determination of such cases by such agency is inconsistent with the corresponding provision of this Act or has received a construction inconsistent therewith.”

There is no contention here that the National Board has entered into an agreement with the Utah Board to cede its jurisdiction. In the *LaCrosse Telephone case*, the Supreme Court referred to this provision and stated:

“The result we have reached is not changed by the Labor Management Relations Act of 1947. That Act grants the National Board authority, under specified conditions, to cede its jurisdiction to a state agency, but it does not appear that there has been any cession of jurisdiction to Wisconsin by the National Board in any representation proceeding.”

The New York court, in *New York State Labor Relations Board vs. Wags Transportation Company*, 130 N.Y. Supp. 2d 731 makes clear that section 10(a) defines the only procedure for ceding of federal jurisdiction to a state board. The court there said:

“In adopting the proviso of section 10(a), the clear policy of Congress was to prevent the application of state law and procedure which did not conform to the Taft-Hartley Act. Congress was not unaware of the early practice of ceding practice to local boards. Indeed, it considered the method desirable, but limitations were placed upon such cession. Apparently, Congress decided

it was more important to have no cession than to have it without complying with the standard prescribed. A secondary purpose may well have been to encourage state legislation to adopt the Taft-Hartley provisions. \* \* \*

“It follows quite logically that Congress provided in section 10(a) the sole means of transferring to state jurisdiction activities which are subject to the National Labor Relations Act as amended. \* \* \*

“It is important that since the *Bethlehem* decision, Congress enacted the proviso to section 10(a) which prescribes the exclusive means for transferring the jurisdiction of the National Board to a state agency.

“This case involves a company subject to the National Act and Board. The substantive unfair labor practices are the same under federal and state acts.

“It only remains to decide whether the restrictive proviso on cession comes within the general rule stated in the *Bethlehem* case, that state action is precluded ‘if it is clear that Congress has intended no regulation except its own.’

“Section 10(a) does prohibit cession except on specified terms. The fact that there are limited exceptions does not vitiate the power of Congress to prevent state action. Indeed, the proviso withdrew from the National Board the authority it had exercised prior to 1947 to cede jurisdiction on its own terms.

“The Respondent correctly argues, in effect, that the National Board cannot do by abdication what it cannot do by agreement.”

See also *A. E. Nettleton Co. vs. United Shoemakers of America, CIO*, 28 Labor Cases, para. 69,211 (N.Y. March, 1955).

This position has been recognized by the Wisconsin Supreme Court, another jurisdiction where the state-federal jurisdictional question over labor relations has been litigated numerous times. In *Wisconsin Employment Relations Board vs. Chauffeurs, Teamsters, etc.*, 66 N.W. 2d 218 (1954) an unfair labor practice charge had been filed with the Wisconsin Board by the company against the union. The union filed an answer alleging that under the National Act its activities were regulated by and subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the National Board. The State Board made findings and conclusions to the effect that the picketing was in violation of Wisconsin statutes and filed a petition for enforcement of its order in the Circuit Court for Milwaukee County. A temporary restraining order was issued by that court and subsequently that court entered a judgment enforcing the court order. The matter was then appealed to the Wisconsin Supreme Court where the decision of the lower court and of the State Board was reversed. The Wisconsin Court made it clear that where activity of a labor union in picketing to coerce an employer to interfere with an employee's rights to refrain from joining or assisting a labor union constitutes an unfair labor practice under both the National Act and the State Act, the National Board has exclusive jurisdiction and a state board or court may not act in such a case. It held that where the unfair labor prac-

tice complained of was unlawful under both the state and the national acts a state board or court could have jurisdiction only if the state statute was similar to the National Act and the National Board had ceded its jurisdiction to the state agency under the provisions of Section 10(a) of the National Act. The Wisconsin Court said:

“If the laws are analagous the only result is that in its discretion the National Board may cede jurisdiction to the state. *Section 10(a) of the Act, as amended, makes it clear that the state does not have jurisdiction of this type of case in its own right.*” (emphasis supplied.)

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