1955

P. S. Guss dba Photo Sound Products
Manufacturing Company v. Utah Labor Relations
Board and United Steelworkers of America, CIO :
Brief of Respondents

Utah Supreme Court

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

RESPONDENTS CONCEDE THERE HAS BEEN NO CESSION OF JURISDICTION FROM THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD TO THE UTAH STATE LABOR RELATIONS BOARD AS PROVIDED BY SECTION 10(a), LABOR MANAGEMENT RELATIONS ACT, 1947.

Section 10(a), Labor Management Relations Act authorizes the National Labor Relations Board to cede to any state or territorial agency "jurisdiction over any cases in any industry * * * even though such cases may involve labor disputes affecting (interstate) commerce * * * ." In a 1954 decision the United States Supreme Court quoted an N.L.R.B. memorandum filed at the request of the Supreme Court:

"It is not feasible under the limitations prescribed by the Act to consummate ceding agreements to any states under the proviso."

United Construction Workers v. Laburnum Corporation, 347 U.S. 656, (1954) Footnote 2.

The limitations mentioned by the National Labor Relations Board involve the fact that no state has copied the National Labor Management Relations Act. The

result is that state labor relations laws are sufficiently inconsistent with the Labor Management Relations Act to preclude cessions agreements. The situation mentioned in the memorandum remains unchanged. For a state board's comments on resultant problems, see the discussion of New York Labor Relations Board (1949) Annual Report, 26 Labor Relations Reference Manual 69.

Respondents, therefore, concede there has been no cession of jurisdiction from the National Labor Relations Board to the Utah State Labor Board, and under the circumstances of this case, cession is not necessary.

POINT II

THE UTAH STATE LABOR RELATIONS BOARD SHOULD HAVE THE POWER TO ACT IF THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD DECLINES TO ASSERT JURISDICTION.

The single question presented before this Court for decision is whether the Utah State Labor Relations Board may take jurisdiction of a labor matter affecting interstate commerce when the National Labor Relations Board has declined jurisdiction because of budgetary or other administrative reasons. The issue is a novel one, having never been decided by this tribunal or the United States Supreme Court—appellant's authorities to the contrary, notwithstanding. In *Bethlehem Steel Corporation v. New York Labor Relations Board*, 330 U.S. 767 (1946), the United States Supreme Court stated:

“The election of the National Board to decline jurisdiction in certain types of cases, for budget-

ary or other reasons, presents a different problem *which we do not now decide.*" (Emphasis added.)

In *LaCross Telephone Corporation v. W.E.R.B.*, 336 U.S. 18 (1949), the Supreme Court did not pass upon the effect of a discretionary declination of jurisdiction by the National Board. The court in *Gardner v. Teamsters G & H Union*, 346 U.S. 485 (1953), held there was no

"suggestion that respondents plea of federal jurisdiction and pre-emption was frivolous and dilatory, or that the federal board would decline to exercise its powers once its jurisdiction was invoked."

As recently as 1954, the United States Supreme Court in the case of *Building Trades Council v. Kinard Construction Co.*, 346 U.S. 933, held in a per curium decision:

"Since there has been no clear showing that respondent has applied to the National Labor Relations Board for appropriate relief, or that it would be futile to do so, the court does not pass upon the question suggested by the opinion below on whether the State court could grant its own relief should the Board decline to exercise its jurisdiction."

Since the *Kinard* holding there have been no decisions by the United States Supreme Court on this point and as of this date the issue at hand is without a prior conclusive precedent.

Appellant has placed great weight upon the *Bethlehem*, *LaCross* and *Garner* cases, *supra*, in support of

its position. Those cases involved facts creative of potential or direct conflict of state and federal action as distinguished from the situation at hand. Explaining its denial of the concurrent federal-state jurisdiction theory urged by the states in the *Bethlehem* case, the LaCross court held that:

“the situation [was] too fraught with potential conflict to permit the intrusion of the state agency even though the National Board had not acted in the particular cases * * *. [If the National Board and a state board take jurisdiction of the same labor matter, the] uncertainty as to which board is master and how long it will remain such can be as disruptive of peace between various industrial factions as actual competition between the two boards for supremacy.”

LaCross Telephone Corp. v. W.E.R.B., supra.

In the *Garner* case, supra, it was held that the federal board had jurisdiction over the matter in dispute because of potential conflict that might otherwise arise between the state and federal governments. The court stated:

“To avoid facing a conflict between the state and federal remedies, we would have to assume either that both authorities will always agree as to whether the picketing should continue or that the state’s temporary injunction will be dissolved as soon as the federal board acts. But experience gives no assurance of either alternative and there is no indication that the statute left it open for such conflicts to arise.”

In the *Bethlehem*, *LaCross* and *Garner* cases, supra,

and in the case of *Plankinton Packing Company v. W.E.R.B.*, 338 U.S. 953, a direct or potential conflict of federal and state action was involved, and there was no declination of jurisdiction by the federal agency.

The doctrine of “irreconcilable conflict” was stated by Mr. Chief Justice Hughes in the case of *Kelly v. Washington*, 302 U.S. 1 (1937), as follows:

“When Congress does exercise its paramount authority, it is obvious that Congress may determine how far its regulation shall go. There is no constitutional rule which compels Congress to occupy the whole field. Congress may circumscribe its regulation outside that limited field. When it does so, state regulation outside that limited field and otherwise admissible is not forbidden or displaced. The principle is thoroughly established that the exercise by the state of its police power, which would be valid if not superseded by federal action, is superseded only where the repugnance or conflict is so ‘direct and positive’ that the two acts cannot ‘be reconciled or consistently stand together.’ ”

The case before this Court involves neither a potential nor direct and positive conflict of state-federal power, and the rationale upon which state jurisdiction was denied in the *Bethlehem*, *Garner*, *LaCross* and *Plankinton* cases is inapplicable here. In the February 1952 issue of *Labor Law Journal*, Philip Feldblum, general counsel for the New York State Labor Relations Board, in discussing “jurisdictional Tidelands in Labor Relations” states:

“That rationale [irreconcilable conflict], how-

ever, is inapplicable where the National Board has declined to assert jurisdiction. In such situations, there are no 'potentialities of conflict.' There can be no dual assertion of jurisdiction leading to vain action or mischievous conflict and no doubt as to which board 'is the master.' Thus, there is nothing in the decisions and rationale of the Supreme Court which affirmatively bars the application of state power to labor disputes over which the National Board declines to exercise jurisdiction. On the contrary, certain portions of the *Bethlehem* opinion affirmatively indicate the propriety of state action where federal power is administratively withheld.

The Supreme Court in the *Bethlehem* case, acknowledged that the field of labor relations was not one in which the commerce clause itself pre-empted the field and precluded state action. It recognized that labor relations traditionally were matters of local concern and interest, 'until recently' left entirely to state control, and not so 'intimately blended and intertwined with responsibilities of the national government that its nature alone raises an inference of exclusion.' Pre-emption was implied only because of the 'potentialities of conflict' inherent where the federal and state governments both took hold of the same relationship. Where the National Board as in the *Bethlehem* case, had affirmatively asserted jurisdiction, the Court could not 'deal with this as a case where federal power has been delegated but lies dormant and unexercised.'

As was stated in the case of *United Construction Workers v. Laburnum Construction Corp.*, supra:

“* * * The care we took in the Garner Case to

demonstrate the existing conflict between state and federal administrative remedies in that case was, itself, a recognition that if no conflict had existed, the state procedure would have survived.”

Applying the above reasoning the New York Labor Board, in *Raisch Motors v. New York S.L.R.B.* (1955), 35 L.R.R.M. 1631, took jurisdiction of a case after the National Labor Relations Board had declined jurisdiction. The New York Board stated:

“There is here no potential conflict, for there is no due claim or assertion of jurisdiction. Thus there is nothing which bars the application of state power to take labor disputes over which the National Board as here declines to assert jurisdiction.”

The New York Board urged:

“Where the National Board refuses to assert jurisdiction, labor disputes must be subject to regulation by the states, or they will not be regulated at all. Labor disputes may or may not substantially affect interstate commerce, but they invariably have an immediate and direct impact upon the local community in which they occur. We do not believe that Congress which granted the National Board discretionary power to decline jurisdiction ever intended to prevent the states, when that occurs, from taking necessary steps to protect their own safety, health and welfare.”

Although not cited by appellants, we are aware of the case of *State v. Montgomery Ward & Co.*, 120 Utah 294, 233 P. 2d 685, decided by this Court in 1951. We are in accord with the reasoning and result in that de-

cision and mention it only to distinguish the issue there presented. The *Montgomery Ward* case involved a conflict between the United States Labor Management Relations Act and the Utah statute, authorizing wage check-offs,—differing from the problem in this instance where there is neither an irreconcilable conflict or even a potential conflict between a federal and state statute or federal and state action. The *Montgomery Ward* conclusion is therefore not applicable here.

In *Bethlehem Steel Corporation v. New York Labor Relations Board*, supra, the court held:

“When federal administrative regulation has been slight under a statute which potentially allows minute and multitudinous regulations of its subject, cf. *Atlantic Coast Line R. Co. v. Georgia*, 234 US 280, 58 L. Ed. 1312, 34 S. Ct. 829, or even where extensive regulations have been made, if the measure in question relates to what may be considered a separable or distinct segment of the matter covered by the federal statute and the federal agency has not acted on that segment, the case will be treated in a manner similar to cases in which the effectiveness of federal supervision awaits federal administrative regulation, *Northwestern Bell Teleph. Co. v. Nebraska State R. Commission*, 297 US 471, 80 L. Ed. 810, 56 S. Ct. 536, supra; *H. P. Welch Co. v. New Hampshire*, 306 US 79, 83 L. Ed. 500, 59 S. Ct. 438, supra. The states are in those cases permitted to use their police power in the interval. *Terminal R. Asso. v. Brotherhood of R. Trainmen*, 318 US 1, 87 L. Ed. 571, 63 S. Ct. 420.”

In view of the above authorities it would seem, a fortiori,

that where a federal agency has affirmatively declined jurisdiction over a labor matter, the arguments for allowing state action would be even more convincing than in the case where the federal administrative action might have been taken, but was not. When ^{an} ~~a~~ affirmative declination is made, it is certain that the Federal Government does not intend to occupy the area in question.

It has been held that if the Federal Government, through Congress, has occupied a given field of regulation, a state may nonetheless exercise control until the agency charged with enforcing the federal regulations acts to enforce its authority or jurisdiction thereunder. As was stated in the case *Missouri Pac. Ry. v. Larabee Flour Mills*, 211 U.S. 612 (1909):

“In other words, the mere grant by Congress to the commission of certain national powers in respect to interstate commerce does not of itself and in the absence of action by the commission interfere with the authority of the state to make those regulations conducive to the welfare and convenience of its citizens. Running through the entire argument of counsel for the Missouri Pacific is the thought that the control of Congress over interstate commerce and a delegation of that control to a commission necessarily withdraws from the State all power in respect to regulations of a local character. This proposition cannot be sustained. Until specific action by Congress or the commission the control of the State over these incidental matters remains undisturbed.”

See also *Terminal R.R. Ass'n v. Brotherhood of R.R.*

Trainmen, 318 U.S. 1 (1943); *H. P. Welch Co. v. New Hampshire*, 306 U.S. 79 (1939); *Northwestern Bell Telephone Co. v. Nebraska Ry. Comm'n.*, 297 U.S. 471 (1936), and cited therein; *M-L-T Ry. v. Harris*, 234 U.S. 412 (1914); Preston, "Federal 'Pre-Emption' in Labor Relations, — A Reply to Professor Cox," 36 Chi. Bar Record 121 (Dec. 1954); "Labor Law—Federal-State Jurisdiction—A Pre-Emption Question," 27 Rocky Mountain Law Review 330.

In view of the above authority, it is submitted that action by an administrative agency, in effect, amounts to action by Congress where Congress has *empowered*, but not directed the N.L.R.B. to act in cases affecting commerce. The National Labor Relations Board in promulgating its jurisdictional yardsticks, therefore, has marked the extent of congressional jurisdiction in that area. The boards' standards should be given the same effect in defining the limited area to be covered by the federal statute as they would have been accorded had they been included in the federal act at the time of its enactment.

Respondents are aware of the fact that decisions of administrative agencies do not have the stature ~~of~~^{or} force of law that holdings of judicial tribunals are accorded. Nevertheless, very often the practical problems that arise before federal and state agencies present complex situations which that body has become skilled in handling through its experience and constant attention in a given field. For this reason we have included in our

brief citations from state labor boards and the remarks of federal and state labor board personnel.

In order to prevent the creation of a "no man's land," the New York Labor Board and the Wisconsin Board have recently taken cases affecting interstate commerce following the National Labor Relations Board's declination to assert its jurisdiction. See *Raisch Motors v. N.Y.S.L.R.B.*, supra.

The Wisconsin Board, in *Copper v. Utter*, 34 L.L.R.M. 1287, decided May 24, 1954, on the basis of the *Kinard* case, supra, stated:

"Thus since the highest jurisdictional authority has not determined that state action would be futile in the event the National Labor Relations Board has refused to exercise jurisdiction, we have therefore directed a representation election."

It is significant to point out that in *N.Y.S.L.R.B. v. Wags Transportation System*, 130 N.Y. Supp. 2d 721, cited by appellants, the affirmance of the lower court's denial of enforcement was on the limited ground that there was no clear showing in that case that the National Board would have rejected jurisdiction. Even in view of the *Wags* decision, the *Raisch Motors* ruling by the New York State Labor Board stands.

The National Labor Relations Board general counsel has asserted:

"In practice the board never has, and I think I can confidently predict it never will interfere to block state action in a situation where the board

chooses to stay its hand because it believes the impact of the activity on commerce would be insubstantial.”

* * * *

“Once it is recognized that Congress has authorized the board at its discretion to withhold the full exercise of its jurisdiction, I cannot see any consideration of policy which makes it necessary or desirable to exclude the states from any field that the board properly abnegates in this way.”

(See address by N.L.R.B. General Counsel, George J. Bott, May 13, 1954, cited in 34 L.R.R. pages 67-68.)

In the recent case of *Weber v. Anheuser Bush*, 99 L. Ed. 386, U.S., Mr. Justice Frankfurter, writing the majority decision for an unanimous court, said, in describing the ruling of the *LaCrosse* case (cited by appellant):

“The Federal Board’s machinery for dealing with certification problems also carries implications of exclusiveness, thus a State may not certify a Union as the collective bargaining agent for employees, where the Federal Board, *if called upon*, would use its own certification procedure.” (Emphasis added.)

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